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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

CASEY MORELL and RAYMOND OSORIO, Civil Case No.: 1:18-cv-918
on behalf of themselves and others similarly
situated, COLLECTIVE AND

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs,
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
v.

NYC GREEN TRANSPORTATION GROUP,
LLC, NURIDE TRANSPORTATION GROUP,
LLC, DOES NOS. 1-25 and JOHN/JANE DOES
NOS. 1-10.

Defendants.

Plaintiffs Casey Morell and Raymond Osorio, on behalf of themselves and others similarly
situated, by and through their attorneys, Faruqi & Faruqi, LLP, hereby allege as follows:

NATURE OF THE CLAIMS

1. Ms. Morell and Mr. Osorio, on behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated
individuals who have been employed by Defendants as Drivers at any time during the full statute
of limitations period, bring this action against Defendants pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards
Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq. (“FLSA”) and the New York Labor Law, N.Y. Lab. Law §§ 190
and 650, ef seq. (“NYLL”).

2. Defendants operate a private taxi service throughout New York City under the
names “Go Green” and “La Puma.”

3. Defendants engage in a willful and deliberate policy and practice of failing to
compensate Plaintiff and other similarly situated Drivers for all hours worked, thereby denying

them owed straight-time and overtime compensation.



Case 1:18-cv-00918 Document 1 Filed 02/12/18 Page 2 of 38 PagelD #: 2

4, Specifically, Defendants consistently reduce the number of hours worked that
Plaintiffs and similarly situated Drivers log when calculating their bi-weekly paychecks, without
providing any explanation for doing so.

5. Further, Defendants regularly tender these shorted paychecks to Plaintiffs and
similarly situated Drivers well after their regularly scheduled pay days, often failing to pay them
for more than a week after the checks are due.

6. Even worse, Defendants force Plaintiffs and similarly situated Drivers to wait at
Defendants’ headquarters, off-the-clock, to receive their paychecks. Plaintiffs and similarly
situated Drivers sometimes wait as long as five hours, only to leave without a paycheck and be
told to return the following day to wait all over again.

7. Defendants also fail to provide Plaintiffs and similarly situated Drivers meal breaks
required by law, but still deduct time purportedly spent on meal breaks from Plaintiffs’ and
similarly situated Drivers’ total hours worked each pay period.

8. Defendants also consistently fail to provide Plaintiffs and similarly situated Drivers
with accurate earnings statements.

9. Plaintiffs’ claims against Defendants to redress these wrongs are brought, in part,
under the FLSA as a collective action, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), and applicable regulations
thereunder, on behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated persons employed by
Defendants as Drivers at any time during the full statute of limitations period.

10. Plaintiffs’ claims are also brought, in part, under the NYLL, and applicable
regulations thereunder, as a class action, pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (“FRCP”)
23, on behalf of themselves and all other similarly situated persons employed by Defendants as

Drivers at any time during the full statute of limitations period.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11.  Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction
over this action because it involves federal questions regarding the deprivation of Plaintiffs’ rights
under the FLSA.

12.  This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ related claims arising
under State and/or local law pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

13.  Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a substantial
part of the events or omissions giving rise to this action occurred in this district.

14.  Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 as Defendants’
principal place of business is located in this district.

PARTIES
A. Plaintiff Casey Morell

15.  Plaintiff Casey Morell is a resident of the State of New York and has been employed
by Defendants as a Driver from on or around January 2, 2017 through the present.

16. At all relevant times, Ms. Morell was an “employee” of Defendants within the
meaning of NYLL §§ 190, 651 and all applicable statutes and regulations.

B. Plaintiff Raymond Osorio

17.  Plaintiff Raymond Osorio is a resident of the State of New York and has been
employed by Defendants as a Driver from on or around February 7, 2017 through the present.

18. At all relevant times, Mr. Osorio was an “employee” of Defendants within the

meaning of NYLL §§ 190, 651 and all applicable statutes and regulations.
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C. Defendant NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC

19.  Defendant NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC is a domestic limited liability
company with its principal place of business located at 33-24 Northern Boulevard, Long Island
City, New York 11101.

20. At all relevant times, NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC, along with the
remaining Defendants, jointly employ Plaintiffs and all similarly situated Drivers.

21.  NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC controls Defendants’ operations, policies,
and practices in a joint fashion without any meaningful distinctions among it and the other persons,
subsidiaries, and/or related entities described herein.

22.  NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC and the remaining Defendants operate as
a common enterprise such that the actions of NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC or any one
of the other persons, subsidiaries, and/or related entities described herein may be imputed to the
other(s) and/or they operate as joint employers within the meaning of all relevant statutes.

23. At all relevant times, NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC controlled and
directed the terms of employment and compensation of Plaintiffs and all similarly situated Drivers.

24, At all relevant times, NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC maintained and
exercised its power to hire, fire, discipline, and promote Plaintiffs and all similarly situated
Drivers.

25. At all relevant times, NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC maintained control,
oversight, and direction of Plaintiffs and all similarly situated Drivers, including timekeeping,
work allocation, task supervision, monitoring work product, payroll, and other employment

practices that applied to them.
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26. At all relevant times, NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC was an “employer”
within the meaning of NYLL §§ 190, 651 and all applicable statutes and regulations.
D. Defendant NuRide Transportation Group, LLC

27.  Defendant NuRide Transportation Group, LLC is a domestic limited liability
company with its principal place of business located at 33-24 Northern Boulevard, Long Island
City, New York 11101.

28.  Atallrelevant times, NuRide Transportation Group, LLC, along with the remaining
Defendants, jointly employed Plaintiffs and all similarly situated Drivers.

29.  NuRide Transportation Group, LLC controls Defendants’ operations, policies, and
practices in a joint fashion without any meaningful distinctions among it and the other persons,
subsidiaries, and/or related entities described herein.

30.  NuRide Transportation Group, LLC and the remaining Defendants operate as a
common enterprise such that the actions of NuRide Transportation Group, LLC or any one of the
other persons, subsidiaries, and/or related entities described herein may be imputed to the other(s)
and/or they operate as joint employers within the meaning of all relevant statutes.

31. At all relevant times, NuRide Transportation Group, LLC controlled and directed
the terms of employment and compensation of Plaintiffs and all similarly situated Drivers.

32. At all relevant times, NuRide Transportation Group, LLC maintained and exercised
its power to hire, fire, discipline, and promote Plaintiffs and all similarly situated Drivers.

33, At all relevant times, NuRide Transportation Group, LLC maintained control,
oversight, and direction of Plaintiffs and all similarly situated Drivers, including timekeeping,
work allocation, task supervision, monitoring work product, payroll, and other employment

practices that applied to them.
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34. At all relevant times, NuRide Transportation Group, LLC was an “employer”
within the meaning of NYLL §§ 190, 651 and all applicable statutes and regulations.
E. Defendants Does Nos. 1-25

35.  Plaintiffs do not know the true names and capacities of corporate Defendants Does
Nos. 1 through 25, and for that reason sue Does Nos. 1 through 25 under fictitious names.

36.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe that Does Nos. 1 through 25 are parent
companies and/or subsidiary companies of Defendants NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC
and NuRide Transportation Group, LLC.

37.  Does Nos. 1 through 25 have a unity of interest and ownership with Defendants
NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC and NuRide Transportation Group, LLC such that the
separate personalities of those entities and Does Nos. 1 through 25 do not exist.

38.  Atallrelevant times, Does Nos. 1 through 25 were “employers” within the meaning
of NYLL §§ 190, 651 and all applicable statutes and regulations.

39.  Atallrelevant times, Does Nos. 1 through 25, along with the remaining Defendants,
jointly employed Plaintiff and all similarly situated Drivers.

F. Defendants John/Jane Does Nos. 1-10

40.  Plaintiffs do not know the true names and capacities of individual Defendants
John/Jane Does Nos. 1 through 10, and for that reason sues John/Jane Does Nos. 1 through 10
under fictitious names.

41.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe that John/Jane Does Nos. 1 through 10 are
individual investors in Defendants NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC and NuRide

Transportation Group, LLC, as well as Defendants Does Nos. 1 through 25.
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42.  John/Jane Does Nos. 1 through 10 exercised control over Defendants’ operations
and employment policies and practices, including, without limitation, dictating the compensation
and classification of Plaintiffs and all similarly situated Drivers.

43.  Atallrelevant times, John/Jane Does Nos. 1 through 10 controlled when Plaintiffs’
and all similarly situated Drivers were paid wages owed to them.

44.  John/Jane Does Nos. 1 through 10 regularly withhold money from the corporate
Defendants in order to exercise control over Defendants’ employment practices, particularly with
respect to compensation, thereby delaying payment of wages owed to Plaintiffs and all similarly
situated Drivers.

45. At all relevant times, John/Jane Does Nos. 1 through 10 were “employers” within
the meaning of NYLL §§ 190, 651 and all applicable statutes and regulations.

46. At all relevant times, John/Jane Does Nos. 1 through 10, along with the remaining

Defendants, jointly employed Plaintiff and all similarly situated Drivers.

FACTS
A. Background
47.  Defendants operate a taxi service throughout New York City under the names
“GoGreenRide” and “La Puma.”
48.  Drivers who are given energy-efficient vehicles operate under the name

“GoGreenRide,” while drivers in other types of vehicles operate under “La Puma.”
49.  However, the distinction between “GoGreenRide” and “La Puma” is nothing more

than a marketing strategy.
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50.  Defendants own and operate both brands as a single entity, subject all Drivers to
the same employment and compensation policies, and exert the same control over all Drivers
irrespective of their brand designations.

51.  In order to begin their shifts each day, Drivers log in to an online scheduling and
timekeeping system called “Humanity.”

52.  Once logged into Humanity, Drivers are dispatched rides from Defendants and are
required to complete all rides they are assigned.

53. Humanity tracks, among other things, Drivers’ schedules and hours worked.

54.  Defendants pay Drivers bi-weekly, with each 14-day pay period spanning from
Monday to Sunday.

55.  Defendants designated the Thursday following each 14-day pay period as Drivers’
regularly scheduled pay day.

56.  Throughout the majority of the statutory period, Drivers have been paid as full-
time, Form W-2 employees.

57.  Inoraround December 2017, Defendants’ began to report Drivers’ income on Form
1099s, designed for independent contractors, in apparent effort to avoid liability for the various
wage violations discussed below.

B. Failure to Pay Drivers for All Hours Worked

58.  Throughout the statutory period, Defendants have systematically failed to pay
Drivers for all hours worked.

59. As aresult of Defendants’ pattern and practice, Drivers have been denied minimum

and overtime wages.
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60.  Defendants’ unlawful practice is easily revealed by cross-referencing Drivers’
Humanity records with their pay stubs and earnings statements.

61.  These records reflect that Drivers routinely work more than 20 hours than what is
listed on their pay stubs and earnings statements.

62. Even when factoring in deductions for meal breaks (which are not itemized on
earnings statements and, as discussed below, are not actually given to Drivers), all of Drivers’
hours worked are still not accounted for.

C. Late Payment of Wages and Off-the-Clock Work

63.  Defendants do not offer to mail paychecks to Drivers.

64.  With the exception of a very brief period in 2017, Defendants do not offer to pay
their Drivers via direct deposit.

65.  Instead, Drivers are required to pick up their paychecks at Defendants’ office,
which is located at 33-24 Northern Boulevard, Long Island City, New York 11101 (the “Corporate
Office”).

66.  When they arrive at the Corporate Office, Drivers almost never receive their
paychecks in a timely fashion.

67.  On the contrary, Drivers are routinely required to wait anywhere from one to five
hours at the Corporate Office before receiving their paychecks.

68.  Moreover, after several hours of waiting for their paychecks, Drivers are frequently
informed that Defendants do not have their paychecks ready.

69.  Drivers are then forced to leave without being paid, and return on a different day in

order to receive their paychecks.
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70.  On some occasions, Defendants still do not have the paychecks ready when the
Drivers return.

71.  Indeed, Defendants have a company-wide policy of paying Drivers “at random,”
meaning that Defendants will prepare only a small number of paychecks — typically around 30 —
that are tendered to Drivers.

72. The remaining Drivers are forced to wait additional time for their paychecks.

73.  What is more, Drivers are not compensated for time they are forced to spend at
Defendants’ office waiting for their paychecks.

74.  This results in Drivers being forced to work off-the-clock from anywhere between
one and five hours per pay period.

D. Failure to Pay for Meal Breaks

75. At the outset of their employment with Defendants, Drivers are told that, roughly
three to six hours into their shifts, they will be notified by Defendants to take a lunch break via a
cloud-based application called “MediRoutes.”

76. Drivers are further promised that, once MediRoutes notifies them to take a break,
they will be given a 30-minute to one-hour time period (depending on the length of the given shift)
to eat their lunches uninterrupted.

77. Put simply, Defendants do not honor these promises or remotely follow the practice
described above.

78.  Indeed, while Defendants invariably deduct time for meal breaks out of Drivers’
total hours worked, Drivers are not actually given meal breaks.

79.  Instead of receiving a notification to take a meal break, Drivers are instructed to

find time between rides to eat.

10
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80.  Drivers are also strictly prohibited from eating inside of their vehicles.

81.  Accordingly, Drivers are forced to pull over and eat outside of their vehicles
between rides.

82. Still, these breaks are not uninterrupted.

83.  Rather, Drivers are subject to be dispatched a ride at any time during their meal,

which happens frequently.

84.  Once dispatched, the Drivers are required to respond immediately.

85.  Despite never receiving actual lunchbreaks, time for purported “meal breaks” is
deducted from Drivers’ paychecks.

E. Failure to Provide Accurate Earnings Statements

86.  Throughout the entire statutory period, Defendants have rarely issued proper
earnings statements to Drivers.

87.  Even on the rare occasions when Defendants have provided earnings statements to
Drivers, the earnings statements have been inaccurate and consistently reflect that the Drivers
worked fewer hours than they actually worked.

88.  The inconsistencies between the earnings statements Defendants issue and the
number of hours Drivers actually work is easily proven by cross-referencing the wage statements
with the Drivers’ hours logged in Humanity.

89. As noted above, Defendants require that Drivers pick up hard copy paychecks in
person, and Defendants do not provide any means through which Drivers may access electronic

pay stubs or earnings statements online.

11
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F. Plaintiff Casey Morell

90.  Ms. Morell has been employed by Defendants as a Driver from on or around
January 2, 2017 through the present.

91. Ms. Morell drives a La Puma car.

92.  Ms. Morell typically works between 40 and 60 hours per week.

93.  In order to begin her shift each day, Ms. Morell logs in to Humanity.

94.  Once she is logged in, she is dispatched rides, which she is required to complete.

95.  Ms. Morell is scheduled to be paid bi-weekly, with each 14-day pay period
spanning from Monday to Sunday.

96. Ms. Morell is regularly denied minimum and overtime wages as a result of
Defendants’ reduction of the hours worked reflected in her regular paychecks.

97. By way of example only, during the pay period spanning from June 5, 2017 through
June 18, 2017, Ms. Morell’s Humanity records reflect that she worked 69 hours and 20 minutes,
including four hours and six minutes of overtime work during the first half of the pay period.

98. Conversely, Ms. Morell’s earnings statement for the same pay period reflects that
she purportedly worked only 55.56 straight-time hours, and only 1.35 overtime hours.

99.  Defendants have never offered to mail Ms. Morell her paychecks, and only allowed
her to participate in a direct deposit program for a brief period in 2017.

100. Instead, she is required to pick up her paychecks at the Corporate Office.

101. When Ms. Morell arrives at the Corporate Office, she almost never receives her
paycheck in a timely fashion.

102.  Ms. Morell regularly sits at the Corporate Office alongside other Drivers as they all

wait for hours in the hopes of receiving their paychecks.

12
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103.  On numerous occasions, after waiting at Defendants’ Office for several hours with
other Drivers, Ms. Morell and these other Drivers are informed that their paychecks are “not ready”
and that they would have to come back a few days later and continue to wait.

104. Members of management at Defendants have repeatedly told Ms. Morell and other
Drivers that Defendants have a company-wide policy of paying Drivers “at random.”

105. Defendants repeatedly explain that they only allocate a certain amount of money to
pay Drivers each pay period and that this amount of money is not enough to pay all of their Drivers.
Therefore, Defendants explain that they select “at random” the Drivers that will actually receive a
paycheck each pay period.

106. Defendants frequently explain that their Company policy is to issue only a small
number of paychecks each pay period, and the Drivers not selected to be paid would have to have
to wait several days after their regularly scheduled pay day, to receive their paychecks.

107. Indeed, after hours of waiting for her paycheck, Ms. Morell is frequently informed
that she was not one of the lucky “randomly selected” Drivers to be given her paycheck that day
and is instructed to come back and continue to wait for her check several days later.

108. By way of example only, on Monday, September 18, 2017, Ms. Morell waited at
the Corporate Office for her check for approximately four hours, as she was made aware that
Drivers would be paid “at random” that day.

109. Ms. Morell did not receive a paycheck, despite the fact that it had already been
nearly a week overdue at that point.

110. On Wednesday, September 20, 2017, Ms. Morell returned to the Corporate Office
to receive her check, but after several additional hours of waiting, she again left without a

paycheck.

13
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111. It was not until Thursday, September 21, 2017 — and after nearly 10 hours of
cumulative waiting time at the Corporate Office — that Ms. Morell received her paycheck.

112.  Ms. Morell’s paycheck was eight days late and did not compensate her for the time
she was required to spend at Defendants’ Corporate office waiting to receive her paycheck.

113.  In fact, Ms. Morell has never been compensated for time she spends waiting for her
paycheck at Defendants’ office.

114. In Ms. Morell’s experience, even Drivers who are paid “at random” are still almost
always paid multiple days after their regularly scheduled paydays.

115.  This results in her working approximately two to ten hours off-the-clock every per
pay period.

116. When she began working for Defendants, Ms. Morell was told that she would be
notified to take lunch breaks once per day by MediRoutes, after which she would be given 30
minutes to one hour (depending on the length of her shift) to eat her lunch uninterrupted.

117.  This practice is not followed.

118. Instead, despite her wages being deducted for meal breaks, Ms. Morell struggles to
find time to eat between rides, and is often interrupted mid-meal to pick up a customer.

119. Ms. Morell is rarely issued earnings statements with her paychecks.

120. When she does receive earnings statements, they are invariably inaccurate, as they
do not reflect her actual hours worked.

121. Defendants have never offered Ms. Morell a means of accessing earnings

statements electronically.

14
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G. Plaintiff Raymond Osorio

122.  Mr. Osorio has been employed by Defendants as a Driver from on or around
February 7, 2017 through the present.

123.  Mr. Osorio drives a GoGreen car.

124.  Ms. Osorio typically works between 40 and 60 hours per week.

125.  In order to begin his shift each day, Mr. Osorio logs in to Humanity.

126.  Once he is logged in, he is dispatched rides, which he is required to complete.

127.  Mr. Osorio is scheduled to be paid bi-weekly, with each 14-day pay period spanning
from Monday to Sunday.

128.  Mr. Osorio is regularly denied minimum and overtime wages as a result of
Defendants’ reduction of the hours worked reflected in his regular paychecks.

129. Defendants have never offered to mail Mr. Osorio his paychecks, and only allowed
him to participate in a direct deposit program for a brief period in 2017.

130. Instead, he is required to pick up his paychecks at the Corporate Office.

131.  When Mr. Osorio arrives at the Corporate Office, he almost never receives his
paycheck in a timely fashion.

132.  Mr. Osorio regularly sits at the Corporate Office alongside other Drivers as they all
wait for hours in the hopes of receiving their paychecks.

133.  On numerous occasions, after waiting at Defendants’ Office for several hours with
other Drivers, Mr. Osorio and these other Drivers are informed that their paychecks are “not ready”
and that they would have to come back a few days later and continue to wait.

134.  Members of management at Defendants have repeatedly told Mr. Osorio and other

Drivers that Defendants have a company-wide policy of paying Drivers “at random.”

15
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135. Defendants have explained to Mr. Osorio that they only allocate a certain amount
of money to pay Drivers each pay period and that this amount of money is not enough to pay all
of their Drivers. Therefore, Defendants explain that they select “at random” the Drivers that will
actually receive a paycheck each pay period.

136. Defendants frequently explain to Mr. Osorio and other Drivers that their Company
policy is to issue only a small number of paychecks each pay period, and the Drivers not selected
to be paid would have to have to wait several days after their regularly scheduled pay day, to
receive their paychecks.

137. Indeed, after hours of waiting for his paycheck, Mr. Osorio is frequently informed
that he was not “randomly selected” to be given his paycheck that day and is instructed to come
back and continue to wait for his check several days later.

138. By way of example only, as of January 5, 2018, Mr. Osorio had only been paid one
of his two paychecks he was owed for the month of December 2017.

139.  Even the check Mr. Osorio did receive within December 2017 was tendered to him
late.

140. On January 5, 2018, Mr. Osorio waited at Defendants’ Corporate Office for
multiple hours, off-the-clock, and was told that the second December paycheck that he was owed
was “not ready.”

141. When Mr. Osorio further complained to Defendants about their continued non-
payment of his second December paycheck, Defendants instructed Mr. Osorio to come back to the

Corporate Office on January 8, 2018 and again wait for his second check.

16
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142.  As instructed, on January 8, 2018 Mr. Osorio returned to Defendants’ Corporate
Office and proceeded to wait for multiple hours, off-the-clock, before he was once again told that
his second December paycheck was still “not ready.”

143. In fact, Mr. Osorio was not given his second December paycheck until January 12,
2018.

144.  Mr. Osorio’s paycheck was nearly two weeks late and did not compensate him for
the time he was required to spend at Defendants’ Corporate office waiting to receive his paycheck.

145. In fact, Mr. Osorio has never been compensated for time he spends waiting for his
paycheck at Defendants’ office.

146. In Mr. Osorio’s experience, even Drivers who are paid “at random” are still almost
always paid multiple days after their regularly scheduled paydays.

147.  This results in Mr. Osorio working approximately two to ten hours off-the-clock
every pay period.

148.  When he began working for Defendants, Mr. Osorio was told that he would be
notified to take lunch breaks once per day by MediRoutes, after which he would be given 30
minutes to one hour (depending on the length of his shift) to eat his lunch uninterrupted.

149.  This practice is not followed.

150. Instead, despite his wages being deducted for meal breaks, Mr. Osorio struggles to
find time to eat between rides, and is often interrupted mid-meal to pick up a customer.

151.  Mr. Osorio was rarely issued earnings statements with his paychecks.

152.  When he did receive earnings statements, they were invariably inaccurate, as they

did not reflect his actual hours worked.
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153. Defendants have never offered Mr. Osorio a means of accessing earnings
statements electronically.

FLSA COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

154. Plaintiffs bring this action, in part, as a collective action under the FLSA and
applicable regulations thereunder.

155. Plaintiffs seeks to maintain claims, pursuant to FLSA § 216(b), on behalf of
themselves and all other similarly situated persons who have been employed by Defendants as
Drivers during the full statute of limitations period (the “FLSA Collective”).

156. At all relevant times, Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective were similarly situated,
had substantially similar job requirements, were paid in the same manner and under the same
common policies, plans, and scheme, and were subject to Defendants’ practices of: (i) failing to
compensate Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective for all hours worked, thereby denying them
straight-time and overtime wages owed; (i1) failing to timely pay wages owed; (ii1) failing to
compensate Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective for time spent waiting to receive their paychecks;
and (iv) making unlawful deductions from wages for time spent on meal breaks, even where no
meal break is provided.

157. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have been fully aware
of the duties performed by Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective, and that those duties were not
exempt from the provisions of the FLSA.

158. Defendants’ violations of the FLSA have been willful, repeated, knowing,
intentional, and without a good faith basis, and have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the FLSA

Collective.
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159. Asaresult of Defendants’ conduct, Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs and the FLSA
Collective for the full amount of their unpaid wages, with interest, plus an additional equal amount
as liquidated damages, plus the attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by Plaintiffs and the FLSA
Collective.

160. While the exact number of the FLSA Collective is unknown to Plaintiffs at this
time, and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiffs believe there are
approximately one hundred and fifty (150) other similarly situated persons who were employed
by Defendants as Drivers during the full statute of limitations period.

161. Plaintiffs are currently unaware of the identities of the members of the FLSA
Collective.

162.  Accordingly, Defendants should be required to provide Plaintiffs with a list of all
persons employed by Defendants as Drivers during the full statute of limitations period, along with
their last known addresses, telephone numbers, and email addresses, so Plaintiffs can give the
FLSA Collective notice of this action and an opportunity to make an informed decision about

whether to participate in it.

NYLL CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

163. Plaintiffs also bring this action, in part, as a class action under the NYLL and
applicable regulations thereunder.
A. Class Definition

164. Plaintiffs seek to maintain claims, pursuant to FRCP 23, on behalf of themselves
and a class of all other similarly situated persons who have been employed by Defendants as

Drivers during the full statute of limitations period (the “NYLL Class™).
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165. Plaintiffs allege, on behalf of themselves and the NYLL Class that Defendants
violated, inter alia, the NYLL by: (i) failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL for all hours
worked, thereby denying them straight-time and overtime wages owed; (ii) failing to timely pay
wages owed; (ii1) failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class for time spent waiting to
receive their paychecks; (iv) making unlawful deductions from wages for time spent on meal
breaks, even where no meal break is provided; and (v) failing to provide accurate wage statements.

166. Plaintiff and the NYLL Class have standing to seek such relief because of the
adverse effects that Defendants’ wage practices have had on them individually and as a group.

167. The wage practices described in this Complaint are part of Defendants’ normal
course of conduct.

168.  The claims brought pursuant to the NYLL may be pursued by all similarly situated
persons who do not opt out of the NYLL Class, pursuant to FRCP 23.

B. Numerosity and Impracticability of Joinder

169. The members of the NYLL Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable.

170. While the exact number of the members of the NYLL Class is unknown to Plaintiffs
at this time, and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiffs believe there are
approximately one hundred and fifty (150) members of the NYLL Class.

171.  Therefore, the numerosity requirement of FRCP 23(a) is satisfied.

C. Common Questions of Law and Fact

172.  Common questions of law and fact, the answers to which will meaningfully

advance this litigation, exist as to the NYLL Class and predominate over any questions only

affecting the members of the NYLL Class individually.
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173. Indeed, there are few, if any, purely individual issues in this action.
174. The questions of law and fact that are common to Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class
include, but are not limited to:
(a) whether Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class worked over 40 hours per week;
(b) whether Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class all straight-
time compensation owed to them;
(c) whether Defendants failed to pay Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class all
overtime compensation owed to them;
(d) whether Defendants failed to timely pay Plaintiffs and the NYLL their owed
wages;
(e) whether Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class are entitled to compensation for time
spent waiting to receive their paychecks;
® whether Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class are entitled to compensation for
unlawful deductions for meal breaks;
(g) whether Defendants failed to provide accurate earnings statements to
Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class; and
(h) whether Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class are entitled to liquidated damages
and injunctive relief.
175. Therefore, the common question requirement of FRCP 23(a) is satisfied.
D. Typicality of Claims and Relief Sought
176. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the members of the NYLL Class they

seek to represent.
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177. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class work, or have worked, for Defendants and are, or
were, subject to the same compensation policies and practices.

178. The wage practices suffered by Plaintiffs, and the damages resulting therefrom, are
sadly typical of Defendants’ treatment of Drivers generally, and of the NYLL Class specifically.

179.  Therefore, the typicality requirement of FRCP 23(a) is satisfied.

E. Adequacy of Representation

180.  Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the NYLL Class because
their interests are coextensive and aligned with those of the members of the NYLL Class.

181. Plaintiffs have no interests adverse to the NYLL Class they seek to represent, and
have retained competent and experienced counsel.

182.  Plaintiffs are willing and able to represent the NYLL Class as fairly and vigorously
as they pursue their similar individual claims.

183.  Plaintiffs have retained counsel who are qualified and experienced in employment
class action litigation and who are able to meet the demands necessary to litigate a class action of
this size and complexity.

184. The combined interests, experience, and resources of Plaintiffs and their counsel to
competently litigate the individual and NYLL Class claims at issue in the instant action satisfy the
adequacy of representation requirement of FRCP 23(a).

F. Requirements of Rule 23(b)(1)

185. Without certification of the NYLL Class, the same evidence and issues would be

subject to re-litigation in a multitude of individual lawsuits with an attendant risk of inconsistent

adjudications and conflicting obligations.
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186. Accordingly, certification of the NYLL Class is the most efficient and judicious
means of presenting the evidence and arguments necessary to resolve such questions for Plaintiffs,
the NYLL Class, and Defendants.

187. By filing this Complaint, Plaintiff is preserving the rights of the NYLL Class with
respect to the statute of limitations on their claims.

188. Therefore, not certifying a class would substantially impair and/or impede the
remaining members of the NYLL Class’s ability to protect their interests.

G. Requirements of Rule 23(b)(2)

189. Defendants acted on grounds, described herein, generally applicable to Plaintiffs
and the NYLL Class by denying Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class minimum and overtime wages,
failing to pay wages on time, and failing to provide accurate earnings statements.

190. These acts are not sporadic or isolated, and support the request for final injunctive
and declaratory relief with respect to Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class as a whole.

191. Declaratory and injunctive relief flow directly and automatically from proof of the
common questions of law and fact regarding the entitlement to, and denial of, minimum and
overtime wages, timely payment of wage, and accurate earnings statements.

192. Declaratory and injunctive relief are the factual and legal predicates for Plaintiffs
and the NYLL Class’s entitlement to monetary and non-monetary remedies for such wage
violations.

193.  Accordingly, injunctive and declaratory relief are among the predominant forms of

relief sought in this case.
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H. Requirements of Rule 23(b)(3)

194. The common issues of fact and law affecting Plaintiffs’ claims and those of the
NYLL Class — including, but not limited to, the common issues identified in the paragraphs above
— predominate over issues affecting only individual claims.

195. A class action is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient
adjudication of Plaintiffs’ claims and the claims of the NYLL Class.

196. The cost of proving Defendants’ pattern and practice of denying overtime and other
wages to Drivers makes it impractical for the members of the NYLL Class to pursue their claims
individually.

197. This class action will not be difficult to manage for reasons including, but not
limited to, the discrete organizational nature of all members of the NYLL Class (they must have
worked for Defendants as Drivers), as well as the common questions of law and fact described
herein.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE FLSA: FAILURE TO PAY MINIMUM WAGE

198. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the FLSA Collective, hereby repeat and
reallege the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.

199. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective are employees under the FLSA and all other
applicable statutes or regulations.

200. Defendants are employers under the FLSA and all other applicable statutes or
regulations.

201. The FLSA requires covered employers, including Defendants, to compensate

employees at least the federal minimum wage for all hours worked under 40 hours in a workweek.
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202. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective were not exempt from the requirement that their
employer pay them the federal minimum wage, and thus they are entitled to be paid at least the
federal minimum wage for all hours worked under 40 hours in a workweek during the full statute
of limitations period.

203. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have engaged in a
policy and practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective at least the federal
minimum wage for all hours worked under 40 hours in a workweek.

204. Defendants denied Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective minimum wages in at least
three ways.

205. First, Defendants engaged in a pattern and practice of unlawfully reducing
Plaintiffs’ and the FLSA Collective’s recorded hours worked when issuing paychecks, as reflected
by comparing Plaintiffs’ and the FLSA Collective’s Humanity records with their earnings
statements.

206. Second, Defendants engaged in a policy and practice of requiring Plaintiffs and the
FLSA Collective to perform compensable work off-the-clock, including, inter alia, by requiring
Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective to wait to receive their paychecks in person.

207. Third, Defendants engaged in a policy and practice of unlawfully deducting from
Plaintiffs’ and the FLSA Collective’s hours worked for time spent taking meal breaks, even where
no such meal breaks were given.

208. Asaresult of Defendants’ failure to compensate Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective
at least the federal minimum wage for all hours worked under 40 hours in a workweek, Defendants

have violated, inter alia, FLSA § 206.

25



Case 1:18-cv-00918 Document 1 Filed 02/12/18 Page 26 of 38 PagelD #: 26

209. Defendants have acted willfully and deliberately in maintaining an intentional
practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective in accordance with the FLSA.

210. Defendants’ violations of the FLSA have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the
FLSA Collective and entitle them to recover the total amount of their unpaid wages, an additional
equal amount in liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE FLSA: FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME

211. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the FLSA Collective, hereby repeat and
reallege the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.

212. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective are employees under the FLSA and all other
applicable statutes or regulations.

213. Defendants are employers under the FLSA and all other applicable statutes or
regulations.

214. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective have worked extensive overtime hours.

215. The FLSA requires covered employers, including Defendants, to compensate
employees at a rate not less than one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all hours
worked in excess of 40 hours in a workweek.

216. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective were not exempt from the requirement that their
employer pay them overtime compensation under the FLSA, and thus they are entitled to be paid
overtime compensation by Defendants for all overtime hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a
workweek during the full statute of limitations period.

217. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have engaged in a

policy and practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective at a rate not less
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than one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in
a workweek.

218. Defendants denied Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective overtime wages in at least
three ways.

219. First, Defendants engaged in a pattern and practice of unlawfully reducing
Plaintiffs’ and the FLSA Collective’s recorded hours worked when issuing paychecks, as reflected
by comparing Plaintiffs’ and the FLSA Collective’s Humanity records with their earnings
statements.

220. Second, Defendants engaged in a policy and practice of requiring Plaintiffs and the
FLSA Collective to perform compensable work off-the-clock, including, inter alia, by requiring
Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective to wait to receive their paychecks in person.

221. Third, Defendants engaged in a policy and practice of unlawfully deducting from
Plaintiffs’ and the FLSA Collective’s hours worked for time spent taking meal breaks, even where
no such meal breaks were given.

222.  Asaresult of Defendants’ failure to compensate Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective
at a rate not less than one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess
of 40 hours in a workweek, Defendants have violated, inter alia, FLSA § 207.

223. Defendants have acted willfully and deliberately in maintaining an intentional
practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective in accordance with the FLSA.

224. Defendants’ violations of the FLSA have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the
FLSA Collective and entitle them to recover the total amount of their unpaid wages, an additional

equal amount in liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.
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THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE FLSA: LATE PAYMENT OF WAGES

225. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the FLSA Collective, hereby repeat and
reallege the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.

226. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective are employees under the FLSA and all other
applicable statutes or regulations.

227. Defendants are employers under the FLSA and all other applicable statutes or
regulations

228. The FLSA requires covered employers, including Defendants, to pay employees all
compensation earned in a particular workweek on the regular payday for the period in which such
workweek ends.

229. Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective were not exempt from the requirement that their
employer timely pay them their wages.

230. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have engaged in a
policy and practice of failing to pay Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective all compensation earned
in a particular workweek on the regular payday for the period in which such workweek ends.

231. As a result of Defendants’ failure to pay Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective all
compensation earned in a particular workweek on the regular payday for the period in which such
workweek ends, Defendants have violated, inter alia, 29 C.F.R. § 778.106.

232. Defendants have acted willfully and deliberately in maintaining an intentional
practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective in accordance with the FLSA.

233. Defendants’ violations of the FLSA have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the
FLSA Collective and entitle them to recover the total amount of their unpaid wages, an additional

equal amount in liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE NYLL: FAILURE TO PAY FOR ALL HOURS WORKED

234. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the NYLL Class, hereby repeat and reallege
the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.

235. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class are employees under the NYLL and all other
applicable statutes or regulations.

236. Defendants are employers under the NYLL and all other applicable statutes or
regulations.

237. The NYLL requires covered employers, including Defendants, to pay employees at
their agreed upon regular rate of pay for all hours worked under 40 hours in a workweek.

238. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class were not exempt from the requirement that their
employer pay them at their agreed upon regular rate of pay, and thus they are entitled to be paid at
their agreed upon regular rate of pay for all hours worked under 40 hours in a workweek during
the full statute of limitations period.

239. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have engaged in a
policy and practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class at their agreed upon
regular rate of pay for all hours worked under 40 hours in a workweek.

240. Defendants denied Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class compensation for all hours
worked in at least three ways.

241. First, Defendants engaged in a pattern and practice of unlawfully reducing
Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL Class’s recorded hours worked when issuing paychecks, as reflected by

comparing Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL Class’s Humanity records with their earnings statements.
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242. Second, Defendants engaged in a policy and practice of requiring Plaintiffs and the
NYLL Class to perform compensable work off-the-clock, including, inter alia, by requiring
Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class to wait to receive their paychecks in person.

243. Third, Defendants engaged in a policy and practice of unlawfully deducting from
Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL Class’s hours worked for time spent taking meal breaks, even when no
such meal breaks were given.

244.  As aresult of Defendants’ failure to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class at
their agreed upon regular rate of pay for all hours worked under 40 hours in a workweek,
Defendants have violated the NYLL.

245. Defendants have acted willfully and deliberately in maintaining an intentional
practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class in accordance with the NYLL.

246. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the
NYLL Class and entitle them to recover the total amount of their unpaid wages, an additional equal
amount in liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE NYLL: FAILURE TO PAY OVERTIME

247. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the NYLL Class, hereby repeat and reallege
the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.

248. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class are employees under the NYLL and all other
applicable statutes or regulations.

249. Defendants are employers under the NYLL and all other applicable statutes or
regulations.

250. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class have worked extensive overtime hours.
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251. The NYLL requires covered employers, including Defendants, to compensate
employees at a rate not less than one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all hours
worked in excess of 40 hours in a workweek.

252. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class were not exempt from the requirement that their
employer pay them overtime compensation under the NYLL, and thus they are entitled to be paid
overtime compensation by Defendants for all overtime hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a
workweek during the full statute of limitations period.

253. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have engaged in a
policy and practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class at a rate not less than
one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a
workweek.

254. Defendants denied Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class overtime wages in at least three
ways.

255. First, Defendants engaged in a pattern and practice of unlawfully reducing
Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL Class’s recorded hours worked when issuing paychecks, as reflected by
comparing Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL Class’s Humanity records with their earnings statements.

256. Second, Defendants engaged in a policy and practice of requiring Plaintiffs and the
NYLL Class to perform compensable work off-the-clock, including, inter alia, by requiring
Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class to wait to receive their paychecks in person.

257. Third, Defendants engaged in a policy and practice of unlawfully deducting from
Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL Class’s hours worked for time spent taking meal breaks, even where no

such meal breaks were given.

31



Case 1:18-cv-00918 Document 1 Filed 02/12/18 Page 32 of 38 PagelD #: 32

258.  As aresult of Defendants’ failure to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class at
a rate not less than one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess
of 40 hours in a workweek, Defendants have violated the NYLL.

259. Defendants have acted willfully and deliberately in maintaining an intentional
practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class in accordance with the NYLL.

260. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the
NYLL Class and entitle them to recover the total amount of their unpaid wages, an additional equal
amount in liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE NYLL: LATE PAYMENT OF WAGES

261. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the NYLL Class, hereby repeat and reallege
the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.

262. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class are employees under the NYLL and all other
applicable statutes or regulations.

263. Defendants are employers under the NYLL and all other applicable statutes or
regulations.

264. The NYLL requires covered employers, including Defendants, to pay employees
in accordance with agreed terms of employment, but not less frequently than semi-monthly, on
regular pay days designated in advance by the employer.

265. Defendants designated the Thursday following each 14-day pay period as
Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL Class’s regularly scheduled pay day.

266. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class were not exempt from the requirement that their
employer timely pay them their wages.

267. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have engaged in a
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policy and practice of failing to pay Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class all compensation earned in a
particular pay period on their regularly scheduled pay day.

268. Asaresult of Defendants’ failure to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class all
compensation earned in a particular workweek on the regular payday for the period in which such
workweek ends, Defendants have violated, inter alia, NYLL § 191.

269. Defendants have acted willfully and deliberately in maintaining an intentional
practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class in accordance with the NYLL.

270. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the
NYLL Class and entitle them to recover the total amount of their unpaid wages, an additional equal
amount in liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE NYLL: MEAL BREAKS

271. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the NYLL Class, hereby repeat and reallege
the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.

272. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class are employees under the NYLL and all other
applicable statutes or regulations.

273. Defendants are employers under the NYLL and all other applicable statutes or
regulations.

274. The NYLL requires covered employers, including Defendants, provide meal breaks
to employees who work shifts lasting six hours or longer.

275. The NYLL also prohibits employers from making deductions from employees’

wages for time spent on meal breaks.
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276. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class were not exempt from the requirements that their
employer provide them with meal breaks and not make deductions from their wages for time spent
on meal breaks.

277. Time spent taking meal breaks is considered hours worked under the NYLL.

278. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have engaged in a
policy and practice of unlawfully deducting from Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL Class’s hours worked
for time spent taking meal breaks, even where no such meal breaks were given.

279. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful deductions from Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL
Class’s wages, Defendants have violated, inter alia, NYLL §§ 162 and 193.

280. Defendants have acted willfully and deliberately in maintaining an intentional
practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class in accordance with the NYLL.

281. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the
NYLL Class and entitle them to recover the total amount of their unpaid wages, an additional equal
amount in liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE NYLL: UNLAWFUL DEDUCTIONS FROM WAGES

282. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the NYLL Class, hereby repeat and reallege
the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.

283. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class are employees under the NYLL and all other
applicable statutes or regulations.

284. Defendants are employers under the NYLL and all other applicable statutes or
regulations.

285. The NYLL prohibits covered employers, including Defendants, from making

certain deductions from wages.
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286. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class were not exempt from the requirement that their
employer not make unlawful deductions from their wages.

287. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have engaged in a
policy and practice of making unlawful deductions from Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL Class’s wages,
including by reducing their recorded hours worked with no explanation and making unlawful
deductions for meal breaks.

288. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful deductions from Plaintiffs’ and the NYLL
Class’s wages, Defendants have violated, inter alia, NYLL § 193.

289. Defendants have acted willfully and deliberately in maintaining an intentional
practice of failing to compensate Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class in accordance with the NYLL.

290. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the
NYLL Class and entitle them to recover the total amount of their unpaid wages, an additional equal
amount in liquidated damages, prejudgment interest, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION
VIOLATIONS OF THE NYLL: EARNINGS STATEMENTS

291. Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the NYLL Class, hereby repeat and reallege
the foregoing allegations as if set forth fully herein.

292. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class are employees under the NYLL and all other
applicable statutes or regulations.

293. Defendants are employers under the NYLL and all other applicable statutes or
regulations.

294, The NYLL requires covered employers, including Defendants, to “furnish each
employee with a statement with every payment of wages, listing the following: the dates of work

covered by that payment of wages; name of employee; name of employer; address and phone
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number of employer; rate or rates of pay and basis thereof, whether paid by the hour, shift, day,
week, salary, piece, commission, or other; gross wages; deductions; allowances, if any, claimed
as part of the minimum wage; and net wages.”

295. Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class were not exempt from the requirement that their
employer provide them with proper earnings statements.

296. Throughout the full statute of limitations period, Defendants have engaged in a
policy and practice of unlawfully failing to provide earnings statements and providing inaccurate
and/or incomplete earnings statements.

297. As a result of Defendants’ failure to furnish accurate earnings statements to
Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class, Defendants have violated, inter alia, NYLL §§ 195.

298. Defendants have acted willfully and deliberately in maintaining an intentional
practice of failing to provide proper earnings statements to Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class in
accordance with the NYLL.

299. Defendants’ violations of the NYLL have significantly damaged Plaintiffs and the
NYLL Class and entitle them to recover $250 for each work day the violation occurred, not to
exceed $5,000, plus attorneys’ fees and costs.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves, the FLSA Collective, and the NYLL
Class, respectfully request that this Court:

A. Declare that the practices complained of herein are unlawful under applicable
federal and state law;

B. Grant an injunction and order permanently restraining Defendants from engaging

in such unlawful conduct;
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C. Declare this action to be maintainable as a collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C.
§ 216, and direct Defendants to provide Plaintiffs with a list of all members of the FLSA
Collective, including all last known addresses, telephone numbers, and email addresses of each
such person, so Plaintiffs can give such persons notice of this action and an opportunity to make
an informed decision about whether to participate in it;

D. Declare this action to be maintainable as a class action pursuant to FRCP 23, and
direct Defendants to provide Plaintiffs with a list of all members of the NYLL Class, including all
last known addresses, telephone numbers, and email addresses of each such person, so Plaintiffs
can give such persons notice of this action and an opportunity to make an informed decision about
whether to participate in it;

E. Designate Plaintiffs Casey Morell and Raymond Osorio as representatives of the
NYLL Class, and their counsel of record as class counsel;

F. Determine the damages sustained by Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective as a result
of Defendants’ violations of the FLSA, and award those damages against Defendants and in favor
of Plaintiffs and the FLSA Collective, plus such pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as may
be allowed by law;

G. Determine the damages sustained by Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class as a result of
Defendant’s violations of the NYLL, and award those damages against Defendants and in favor of
Plaintiffs and the NYLL Class, plus such pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as may be
allowed by law;

H. Award Plaintiffs, the FLSA Collective, and the NYLL Class an additional equal
amount as liquidated damages because Defendants’ violations were willful and/or without a good

faith basis;

37



Case 1:18-cv-00918 Document 1 Filed 02/12/18 Page 38 of 38 PagelD #: 38

I Award Plaintiffs, the FLSA Collective, and the NYLL Class their reasonable

attorneys’ fees and costs and disbursements in this action including, but not limited to, any

accountants’ or experts’ fees; and

J. Grant Plaintiffs, the FLSA Collective, and/or the NYLL Class such other and

further relief that the Court deems just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs, of themselves, the FLSA Collective, and the NYLL Class, hereby demand a trial

by jury on all issues of fact and damages.

Dated: February 12, 2018
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FARUQI & FARUQI, LLP

By: /s/ Innessa M. Huot
Innessa Melamed Huot (IM-2886)
Alex J. Hartzband (AH-0934)

685 Third Avenue, 26th Floor
New York, New York 10017
Tel: 212-983-9330

Fax: 212-983-9331
ihuot@faruqilaw.com
ahartzband@faruqilaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and the Proposed
FLSA Collective and NYLL Class
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3 153 Recovery of Cverpayment Linbility PERSONAL PROPERTY _B__M)R__ L i 1 480 Consumer Credit
of Veterun's Benefits 0O 350 Motor Vehicle O 370 Other Fraud 710 Fair Labor Standards 0 R61 HIA (13956 O 490 CablciSat TY
O 160 Stockhelders’ Suifs O 355 Motor Vehicle O 371 Truth in Lending Act D 862 Black Lung (923) 3 850 Securities/Commadities!
7 130 Other Contract Produgt Liability O 380 Other Personal O 720 Labor/Mansgement O %63 TIWC/DIWW (415(g)) Exchange
O 195 Contract Product Lisbility | O 360 Orther Personal Property Damage Ralations 0O 264 S5ID Title XV1 O &30 Other Sterutory Acticns
O 196 Franchise Tnjury O 385 Property Damage [J 740 Railway Labor Acl O 263 RST{(905(g}} O 891 Agricultural Acts
B 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability O 751 Family and Medical O 893 Environmental Matrers
Medical Malpractive Leave Act O &% Freedom of Information
| REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PHRISONER PETITIONS |0 790 Other Labor Litigation FEDERAL TAX SUTTS Act

0 210 Land Condennation 0 440 Cther Civil Rights

Habeas Corpus:

O 791 Employee Retirement

O 870 Taxes {L).5. Plaintiff

03 896 Arbitration

0 220 Foreclosure 0 441 Voting O 463 Alien Detainee Income Security Act or Defendant) O 829 Administative Pracedure
3 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 0 442 Employment & 510 Motiona to Yacate O 871 IR5—Third Party ActRoview or Appeal of
0 240 Tons to Land 0O 443 Housing/ Semtence 26 USC 7609 Agency Degision
3 245 Ton Produgt Liability Accommodations 0 530 Gengral 0 950 Constitutionality of
O 290 AH Other Real Properly O 445 Amer. w/Disabilities -| 3 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION State Smtuics
Employment Other: O 462 Nanmalization Application
0 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - | F 540 Mandamus & Other |0 455 Other Immigmation
QOther (I 550 Civil Rights Actions
0 448 Education 0O 555 Prison Condition
O 560 Civil Detainee -
Conditions of
Confinement
V. ORIGIN (Place an “X* in One Box GOnly)
™1 Original M2 Removed from 0O 3 Remanded from 0O 4 Reinstateder O 5 Transferred fram O € Multidistrict 0 8 Multidistrict
Proceeding State Canrt Appellate Court Reopened Another [hstrict Litigation - Litigation -
frpecify) Transfer Direct File

Cite the U8, Civil Statuic under which you are filing (Pe rat cite jurisdictional starutes ynless diversity).
Fair Labor Standards Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq.
Brief description of cause.
Failure io pay wages, including evertime and minimum wages, off-the-clock work, and wage notice viclations

3 CHECKIF THISIS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND § CHECK YES only if dermanded in complaint:

¥1. CAUSE OF ACTION

VII. REQUESTED IN

COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, FRCv P JURY DEMAND; ™ Yes ONo
VIII. RELATED CASE(S)
IF ANY fSee invirncions): TUDGE 7 B  DOCKET NUMBER ]
DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD
02/12/2018 {s! Innessa M. Huot
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING [FP TUDGE MaAG. JUDGE
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CERTIFICATION OF ARBITRATION ELIGIBILITY

Locul Arbitration Rule 83.10 provides that with certain exceptions, actions secking money damages only in an 2mount not in excess of $150,000,
exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration. The amount of damages is presumed to be below the thresheld amount unless a
certification to the ¢ontrary is filed,

1, Inrassa Malamed Huat » counsel for Plainlifi: Casey Morell and Raymend Oecris | do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action
is ineligible for compulsory arbitration for the following reason(s):

monetary damages sought are in excess of $150,000, exclusive of interest and costs,
the complaint seeks injunctive relief,

the matter is otherwise ineligible for the following reason

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT - FEDERAL RULES CIVIL PROCEDURE 7.1

Identify any parant corporation and any publicly held corporation that owns 10% or more or its Stocks:

RELATED CASE STATEMENT (Section VIl on the Front of this Form)

Please ligt all cases that are arguably related pursuant to Division of Business Rule 50.3.1 in Section VIIl on the fronl of this form, Rule 50.3.1 (a} providas thal “A civil case is “relaied”
to ancther clvit case for purposes of this guidsline when, bacsuse of the similarity of facts and legal lssues or bacause the cases atise from the same transactions or events, a
substantial saving of judiclal resources is likely to result from assigning both cases to the same judge and magistrate judge.” Rule 50.3.1 (b) prevides that * A civil case shall not be
deernsd “related” to snother civil case merely because the civil case: {&) involves identical legal issues, or (B) Invalves the same parties.” Rule 50.3.1 (¢} further provides that
“Presumptively, and subject tz the power of a judge to determing otherwise pursuant to paragraph (d), civil cases shall not be deemed to be “related” unless both cases are siil
pending before the coust.”

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d){2)

1) Is the civil action being flled In the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk
County? O es 1 No

2) If you answered "no” above;
a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, oceur in Nassau or Suffolk
County? D Yes No
b) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, ocour in the Eastern
District? Bl Yes No

¢} If this is a Fair Debt Collection Practice Act case, specify the County in which the offending communication was
received;

If your answer to question 2 (b} is “No,” does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than ong} reside in Nassau or
Suffolk County, or, in ag interpleader aﬁon, dIc:]es the claimant {or a majority of the claimants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or
0

Suffolk County? €s
{Note: A comporation shall be considered a resident of the County in which it has the most significant contacts).

BAR ADMISSION

| am currently admitted in the Eastem District of New York and currently a member in goed standing of the bar of this court.
K Yes O no

Are you currently the subject of any disciplinary action {s) in this er any other state or federal court?

D Yes (If yes, please explain EI No

| certify the accuracy of all information provided above.

Signature: KCT’ {“Lé\

Lasi Modified: 1172772017
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of New York

CASEY MORELL and RAYMOND OSORIO, on
behalf of themselves and others similarly situated,

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 1:18-cv-918

NYC GREEN TRANSPORTATION GROUP, LLC,
NURIDE TRANSPORTATION GROUP, LLC, DOES
NOS. 1-25 and JOHN/JANE DOES NOS. 1-10,

N N N N N N N N N N S N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) NYC Green Transportation Group, LLC
33-24 Northern Boulevard
Long Island City, NY 11101

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Innessa Melamed Huot

Faruqi & Faruqi, LLP
685 Third Avenue, 26th Floor
New York, NY 10017

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

DOUGLAS C. PALMER
CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (I))

This summons for (mame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

O T left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O Iserved the summons on (rame of individual) , wWho is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
3 I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
O Other (specify):
My fees are § for travel and § for services, for a total of § 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Eastern District of New York

CASEY MORELL and RAYMOND OSORIO, on
behalf of themselves and others similarly situated,

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No. 1:18-cv-918

NYC GREEN TRANSPORTATION GROUP, LLC,
NURIDE TRANSPORTATION GROUP, LLC, DOES
NOS. 1-25 and JOHN/JANE DOES NOS. 1-10,

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) NuRide Transportation Group, LLC
33-24 Northern Boulevard
Long Island City, NY 11101

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Innessa Melamed Huot

Faruqi & Faruqi, LLP
685 Third Avenue, 26th Floor
New York, NY 10017

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

DOUGLAS C. PALMER
CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (]))

This summons for (mame of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

O I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

(3 I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

O Iserved the summons on (rame of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or
O I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or
O Other (specify):
My fees are § for travel and § for services, for a total of § 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:

Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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Case 1:18-cv-00918 Document 1-4

"NYC GREEN TRANSPORTATION GROUP,
LLC, NURIDE TRANSPORTATION GROUP,
LLC, DOES NOS. 1-25 and JOHN/JANE DOES

NOS. 1-10.

Defendants and-dm a named Plaintiff in the above-entitied action,

pending in the United States District




UNITED STATES DISFRICTCOURT -~ .

DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
CASEY MORELL and RAYMOND OSORIO, | Civil Case No.: ©oh :ri. KL
on behalf of themselves and others similarly | L e
situated, CONSENTTOSUE  + ,',;-’- b

Plaintifss, W g
. - - ;’:— R :l%
v, Nt S

NYC GRFEN TRA NSPORTATION GROUP,
L1 CONURIDE TRANSPORTATION GROUP,
LLC DOES NOS. 1-25 and JOHN/JANE DOES
NOS, 1-10

Detendants.

I was employed by Defendants and am a named Plaintiff in the above-entitled action,
Morell. et al. v. NYC Green Transportation Group. et al.. pending in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of New York. [ hereby consent to sue Defendants and be a party
Plaintitf in this lawsuit.
I hereby appoint Faruqi & Faruqi, LLP, located at 685 Third Avenue, 26th Floor, New
York, New York 10017, telephone number (212) 983-9330, as my attorneys.

Name (Print): @QJ lﬁM_ﬂﬂ‘

oD (Lo o LT
/" '




ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this
post: Lawsuit Says NY C Taxi Companies Must Pick Up the Slack and Pay Employees Due Wages
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